
 
 
 
 
 

THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO 
 

M  E  M  O  R  A  N  D  U  M 
 
 
 
DATE: January 3, 2025 
 
TO: Honorable Council President Joe LaCava and Members of the City Council 
 
FROM:  Rania Amen, Acting Deputy Chief Operating Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Sole Source Agreement for Chollas Material Bins Emergency Project  
________________________________________________________ 
 
Pursuant to San Diego Municipal Code (SDMC) §22.3108 (a) (1), “Exceptions to 
Advertisement and Competitive Award of Public Works Contracts,” I am hereby notifying you 
of the sole source selection and forthcoming emergency contract for construction and 
infrastructure repair of the subject project. 
 
During the heavy rains of the 2022-2023 winter rainy season, a sinkhole developed in front 
of and beneath the material bins located at the Chollas Operations Yard within the Navajo 
Community in Council District 7. This exacerbated differential settlement under the concrete 
structure, leading to the failure of the concrete slab, walls, and roof over the bins. The 
sinkhole was subsequently filled, and the area was isolated to prohibit access. The material 
bins are used to store various types of fill material for pipeline work. 
 
In August 2023, Public Utility Department (PUD) staff observed further land settlement and 
white gaseous vapors emanating from the original sinkhole. This was reported to the 
Environmental Services Department (ESD), which promptly investigated the site. During the 
investigation, the atmosphere was monitored for methane, oxygen, and carbon monoxide, 
revealing a hazardous atmosphere where gas was escaping from the ground. PUD and ESD 
staff, in coordination with the Landfill Enforcement Agency (LEA), placed temporary fill 
material over the gas escape site to mitigate the release. The material bins are located 
adjacent to ESD property at the Chollas Operations Yard. 
 
Further failure of the material bins could affect an adjacent flare that collects and destroys 
landfill gases at the Chollas Operations Yard, potentially leading to the release of these gases. 
Additionally, there are power lines near the bins that could also be impacted, as well as ESD's 
staff trailer. 
 
These urgent repairs are critical to maintaining services essential to public health, safety, 
and welfare. Given the scope and urgency of the required repairs, the necessary work is 
beyond the capabilities of City staff. Therefore, this project has been designated as an 
emergency and a sole source contract has been approved. 
 



Page 2 
Honorable Council President Joe LaCava and Members of the City Council 
January 3, 2025 

The selected contractor is Orion Construction Corporation, and the estimated cost of the 
project is $1,500,000 plus City costs and contingency for unforeseen conditions. The final 
award amount will be presented to Council upon ratification request of the emergency 
contract. Capital Improvement Project (CIP) change orders valued at $500,000 or more or 
Operations & Maintenance (O&M) change orders valued at $200,000 or more for 
construction will be presented to Council for approval, per SDMC §22.3018. 

Included with this memorandum is the Declaration of Emergency from the City Engineer, 
certifying that the subject project meets the criteria of an emergency as defined in SDMC 
§22.3108 (Enclosure 1).

The Director of Purchasing & Contracting has reviewed the Declaration of Emergency, 
supporting documentation, and the Request for Sole Source Certification (Enclosure 2) and 
certifies the request to sole source is in accordance with SDMC §22.3016(a).  

If there are technical questions regarding this project, please contact Elif Cetin, Acting Director 
and City Engineer, at (619) 533-3794 or ECetin@sandiego.gov. For contractual questions, please 
contact Claudia C. Abarca, Director, at (619) 236-5921 or CAbarca@sandiego.gov.  

Rania Amen  
Acting Deputy Chief Operating Officer 

Enclosures: 1. Memorandum from Luis Schaar to Claudia C. Abarca, dated 
September 10, 2024 

2. Sole Source Certification Approval

cc: Honorable Mayor Todd Gloria 
Honorable City Attorney Heather Ferbert  
Paola Avila, Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
Eric K. Dargan, Chief Operating Officer 
Charles Modica, Independent Budget Analyst 
Matthew Vespi, Chief Financial Officer 
Scott Wahl, Chief, Police Department  
Robert Logan, Chief, Fire-Rescue Department  
Kris McFadden, Deputy Chief Operating Officer 
Kristina Peralta, Deputy Chief Operating Officer 
Casey Smith, Deputy Chief Operating Officer 
Christiana Gauger, Chief Compliance Officer  
Matt Yagyagan, Director of Policy, Office of the Mayor  
Javier Gomez, Senior Policy Advisor and Council Affairs, Office of the Mayor 
Claudia C. Abarca, Director, Purchasing & Contracting  
Kirby Brady, Interim Director, Environmental Services Department  
Elif Cetin, Acting Director, Engineering & Capital Projects  
Rolando Charvel, Director & City Comptroller, Department of Finance 
Angela Colton, Director, Risk Management Department  
Juan Guerreiro, Director, Public Utilities Department 

mailto:ECetin@sandiego.gov
mailto:CAbarca@sandiego.gov
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Lisa M. Celaya, Executive Assistant Director, Public Utilities Department 
Matthew Cleary, Assistant Director, Environmental Services Department  
Drew Kleis, Assistant Director, Public Utilities Department  
Luis Schaar, Assistant Director, Engineering & Capital Projects
James Hay, Deputy Director, Environmental Services Department  
Keli Balo, Deputy Director, Public Utilities Department  
Berric Doringo, Deputy Director, Purchasing and Contracting 
George Ghossain, Deputy Director, Engineering & Capital Projects  
Michael Rosenberg, Deputy Director, Public Utilities Department  
William Curcio, Assistant Deputy Director, Public Utilities Department 
Luis Campos, Senior Civil Engineer, Environmental Services Department  
Laila Nasrawi, Senior Civil Engineer, Public Utilities Department  
Tung Phung, Senior Civil Engineer, Public Utilities Department 
Louis Schultz, Senior Civil Engineer, Engineering & Capital Projects  
Stephen Samara, Principal Contract Specialist, Purchasing & Contracting
Joseph Barhoumi, Associate Civil Engineer, Environmental Services Department  
Shawn Krause, Associate Engineer-Civil, Engineering & Capital Projects  
Jeff Navarrete, Associate Engineer, Public Utilities Department  


























































































































































































































































































































































